S259215

S.Ct. Case No.:

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

BLAKELY McHUGH, et al.

Plaintiffs/Appellants/Petitioners,

VS.

PROTECTIVE LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

Defendant/Respondent.

After Decision by the Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Div. One (D072863) (Superior Court of San Diego County, Hon. Judith F. Hayes 37-2014-00019212-CU-IC-CTL)

PETITION FOR REVIEW

WINTERS & ASSOCIATES

Jack B. Winters, Jr., Esq./82998 Georg M. Capielo, Esq./245491 Sarah D. Ball, Esq./292337 1901 First Avenue, Suite 400 San Diego, CA 92101 (619) 234-9000

WILLIAMS IAGMIN LLP

*Jon R. Williams, Esq./162818 666 State Street San Diego, CA 92101 (619) 238-0370 williams@williamsiagmin.com

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Were the provisions of Insurance Code sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 intended by the Legislature to apply, in whole or in part, to life insurance policies in force as of those statutes' enactment on January 1, 2013, regardless of the original date of issuance of those in force policies?
- 2. May the lower courts rely upon private opinions of Department of Insurance staff counsel, contrary to Insurance Code section 12921.9, Government Code section 11340.5, and this Court's recent decision in *Heckart v. A-J Self Storage*, *Inc.* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 749?

II.

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

In 2011, the State of California recognized a serious problem with senior and disabled insurance policyholders unintentionally losing important life insurance coverage due to inadvertent failures to pay policy premiums. Often decades of premium investments in those policies were lost when a single payment was missed and those policies

were terminated as a result of the mental or physical decline of those elderly or disabled policyholders.

To address those issues, in 2012 the Legislature codified what was existing but not legally mandated protections requiring at least 30-days' notice of a pending lapse before an insurer could legally terminate a life insurance policy. The Legislature further mandated that all "issued and delivered" life insurance policies must adhere to at least a 60-day grace period for premium payments, irrespective of the period otherwise designated in those policies. And finally, to provide seniors and disabled policyholders with added protection against inadvertent lapses, the Legislature required that every policyholder would be entitled to designate a secondary individual or entity to receive notice of any pending lapse for non-payment.

Addressing all of those issues, Assembly Bill 1747 (2011-2012 Reg. Sess.) added sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 to the Insurance Code on January 1, 2013. (See Legislative History of AB 1747 at 1 AA 580-694 [explaining how that remedial legislation was needed to provide consumer safeguards for people who have purchased life insurance coverage, especially seniors].) Those sections further embodied public

policy by placing the affirmative burden on insurers to provide proper notice of termination in light of those enlarged grace periods and notice requirements, with the penalty that non-conforming notices will be considered "ineffective." (1 AA 644.)

Notably, that remedial legislation was supported by the insurance industry and signed into law without any indication from the Department of Insurance ("DOI") that those statutes would not go into effect immediately and apply to all existing in force policies in California. Indeed, to the extent that the Legislature expressly enacted those statutes to protect existing senior and disabled policyholders from inadvertently losing decades of premium investments in those policies, it was reasonable to conclude that legislation would apply to existing in force policies.

However, after the passage of those statutes, some insurers (including Protective Life) began to advance the argument that those statutes (and in particular, their provisions extending grace and notice periods) were not intended to apply to existing in force policies issued before January 1, 2013. The DOI did not take any position on the application of the statutes, either way. Rather in response to off-the-

record phone inquiries, DOI staff counsel purportedly opined that those statutes do not apply to existing policies, even though they also indicated that their responses would not be put in writing and should not be considered a formal rule, bulletin, or guideline issued by the DOI. Obviously, such an interpretation of those statutes would invite a critical conflict. Indeed, it would mean that nearly all life insurance policies in existence before January 2013 are immune from the requirements of sections 10113.71 and 10113.72, even as those policies continue in force for decades into the future and the additional notice and grace period provisions required by those statutes would become even more important to protecting aging policyholders.

The underlying case embodies that exact conflict. The trial court found that sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 applied to an in force life insurance policy which Petitioner's decedent, William McHugh ("McHugh"), had purchased eight years prior to those statutes' enactment, paying significant premiums to Protective Life over that time period. The Court of Appeal, however, reached the opposite conclusion, finding that sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 applied only to new policies issued after January 1, 2013 and therefore did not prevent

the inadvertent lapse of McHugh's policy. The Court of Appeal did so improperly relying on unofficial communications and notices issued by DOI staff to the insurance industry, none of which represented the official position of the DOI on that important issue. That published decision now holds that the protections provided by sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 only inure to the benefit of new policyholders, contrary to the Legislature's express desire to protect existing elderly and disabled life insurance policyholders from inadvertent policy lapses.

Concurrently, other courts have construed sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 and have reached decisions squarely in conflict with the Court of Appeal's decision in this case. Indeed, as many insurance coverage actions are filed in federal court, at least one federal district court (Bentley v. United of Omaha, Case No. CV 15-7870-DMG (AJWx) (C.D. Cal.)) applied California law to conclude that sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 applied to policies issued before January 1st, 2013, irrespective of when they were originally issued. Further, Judge Gee in Bentley specifically considered and refused to follow the Court of Appeal's decision in this case, concluding that it did not reflect how this Court would likely construe those same statutes. In doing so, Judge

Gee also disagreed with the Court of Appeal's conclusion that application of those statutes to previously issued policies would necessarily be "retroactive" or would otherwise unconstitutionally impair those policies. Finally, Judge Gee in *Bentley* correctly refused to consider any materials from the DOI, including the SERFF Notices relied upon by the Court of Appeal. With only the issue of attorneys' fees for the prevailing plaintiffs left to be determined in *Bentley*, judgment in that case will soon be entered, meaning that same question will then likely make its way before the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals.

Given the obvious disagreement in those holdings concerning the applicability of the exact same statutes — and the split of authority developing in the state and federal courts applying the same California law — this Court's intervention is required now to construe those statutes and to resolve that conflict. Similarly, this Court's guidance is further required on the related issue of whether the lower courts can properly rely upon unauthorized positions and communications by DOI staff regarding the construction of those statutes. Literally millions of life insurance policies previously issued in California hang in the balance, with elderly and disabled policyholders particularly susceptible

to the uncertainty those conflicting decisions impose on important life insurance coverage. For many of those policyholders who have paid decades of premiums, life insurance benefits are the only financial legacy they will leave to their families. This Court should grant review now to resolve those important questions and to ensure that life insurance benefits are not inadvertently forfeited by those particularly vulnerable class of policyholders, as the Legislature clearly intended.

III.

RELEVANT FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. <u>Background</u>.

The underlying case involves the controverted loss of \$1,000,000 of life insurance benefits to Petitioner, Blakely McHugh ("Blakely"), the surviving daughter of McHugh and the sole beneficiary designated under the term life insurance policy McHugh held with Protective Life at the time of his death. (Exh. 25; 1 AA 106-131.) Petitioner, Trysta M. Henselmeier, was named as a nominal plaintiff as she is the representative of McHugh's estate, but presented no separate claim for damages on the estate's behalf. (1 AA 79; 3 AA 1369.)

B. Relevant Provisions Contained in McHugh's Life Insurance Policy with Protective Life.

In March of 2005, McHugh was issued a \$1,000,000 term life insurance policy by Chase Insurance Company. (Exh. 25; 1 AA 106-131.)² That policy was delivered on or about March 8, 2005, along with a contemporaneous acknowledgment that the policy was "in force." (*Ibid.*) That policy further indicated that coverage ran from January 9, 2005, with an annual premium having been previously paid by McHugh at about that same time. (*Ibid.*)

The relevant provisions of that policy were that it was a 10-year term life policy, ending in 2015, after which it could be continued with a higher premium payment. (*Ibid.*) While premium payments were due every year on the 9th of January, payment could be made under the terms of that policy within a 31-day "grace period" without any termination of coverage. (1 AA 117.) Consequently, payment was considered timely as long as it was received within 31 days from the annual due date of January 9, and if it was not received during that

² Chase was later acquired by Protective Life, which assumed all of Chase's obligations under the policy in question.

grace period (or by February 9), the policy lapsed and coverage ceased. (1 AA 117 ["If the premium remains unpaid at the end of the grace period, coverage will cease"].) On the other hand, under the terms of that same policy, if the insured died during the grace period, coverage continued, with any unpaid premiums later deducted from the policy proceeds. (*Ibid.*)

C. The Mandatory Change in the Policy's Grace Period Imposed by the Insurance Code.

By January of 2007, McHugh's policy with Protective Life passed the two-year maturity period in which a claim for benefits could have been contested for any reason. (1 AA 105.) McHugh paid all premiums due yearly in the amount of \$310 through January of 2012, making his policy "in force" until 31 days after January 9, 2013 (including the policy's grace period).

In the interim, as explained above, in 2012 the Legislature enacted Insurance Code sections 10113.71 and 10113.72. Those changes to the Insurance Code, effective January 1, 2013, provided McHugh with an extension of the policy's grace period, from 31 days to 60 days, during which he could pay his premium without the policy

lapsing or being subject to any requirement of reinstatement. (Ins. Code §§ 10113.71, subd. (a).)³ Those changes also provided McHugh with the right to receive a 30-day written notice sent "after" a premium was due and was unpaid and "prior to the effective date of termination if termination is for nonpayment of premium." (§§ 10113.71, subd. (b)(3) and 10113.72, subd. (c).) Further, those new provisions also gave McHugh the annual right to designate another person to also receive all notices concerning payment of policy premiums, pending lapse, and termination, so as to lessen the risk of an involuntary lapse. (§ 10113.72, subd. (b).)

D. Protective Life's Premature and Unlawful Termination of McHugh's Policy.

In December 20, 2012, Protective Life sent McHugh a notice reminding him that his premium would be due on January 9, 2013. (Exh. 117; 3 AA 1628.) At the time Protective Life sent that notice, there was no premium that was yet due or which remained unpaid.

³ All further statutory references are to the Insurance Code unless otherwise indicated.

That notice further indicated that the policy would lapse on February 9, 2013 if a premium was not received. (*Ibid.*)

Thereafter, on January 9, 2013, Protective Life mailed an Annual Report to McHugh, advising him of his policy's status. (Exh. 15.) However, that January 9, 2013 Annual Statement did *not* advise McHugh of the new 60-day grace period applicable to his policy, nor did it inform him of the newly enacted right to 30-day's notice before termination of his policy, or his related right to designate someone else to receive premium notices. (*Ibid.*)

On January 28, 2013, Protective Life mailed to McHugh a "Second Notice of Payment Due," which indicated that no premium payment was yet received and which incorrectly (in light of the newly enacted Insurance Code provisions extending that grace period to 60-days) advised McHugh that if payment was not received by February 9, 2013, the policy would lapse. (Exh. 118; 3 AA 1690.) Based upon Protective Life's assertion in that notice that coverage would lapse on February 9, 2013, that notice gave McHugh only 10 days' written notice before termination of the policy for nonpayment, which also violated the mandatory 30-day pre-termination notice required by those same newly

enacted provisions of the Insurance Code. (§ 10113.71, subd. (b).) Additionally, that notice did not advise McHugh of any other upcoming dates, including that the actual last day to timely make a premium payment was 60-days from January 9, 2013, or March 10, 2013. (Exh. 118.)

On February 9, 2013, Protective Life lapsed and terminated coverage under the policy for nonpayment. Thereafter, on February 18, 2013 (again, well before the end of the 60-day grace period then in effect), Protective Life sent McHugh a further notice advising him that the policy had lapsed and that coverage had ceased. (Exh. 119; 3 AA 1692.) At about the same time that February 18, 2013 notice was sent by Protective Life, McHugh suffered a serious fall which, from that point until his death, caused him continuing physical pain and discomfort, including a related surgery on April 1, 2013. (7 RT 1382, 1398-1399.)

E. McHugh's Death and Protective Life's Denial of Petitioners' Claims for the Policy Benefits.

McHugh died on June 13, 2013. Following McHugh's death,
Petitioner Henselmeier contacted Protective Life to inquire about the

status of the policy and to inquire whether a claim could be made. (7 AA 1415-1418.) She was advised by Protective Life that the policy had lapsed, and that no benefits were available. (*Ibid.*) Ultimately, Petitioners filed suit on June 13, 2014, within one year of McHugh's death. (1 AA 24.)

F. Proceedings in the Trial Court.

Prior to trial, the parties brought cross-motions for summary judgment regarding the application of sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 to McHugh's policy. (See, e.g., 1 AA 436-465.) In ruling on those motions, the trial court concluded that both of those statutes applied, and that such an application was prospective only and not "retroactive." (2 AA 1167-1168.) The trial court also concluded that the legislative intent of those statutes was to protect senior policyholders, and that to decline to apply those statutes to existing policies would thwart the obvious remedial purpose of those statutes. (Opn. at 3.) The trial court, on two occasions, also rejected consideration or use of any materials from the DOI as violative of Government Code section 11340.5.

Consistent with those rulings on summary judgment, at the outset of trial Petitioners urged the trial court to decide purely legal issues surrounding Protective Life's noncompliance with both the terms of the insurance contract and relevant provisions of the Insurance Code. (3) AA 1400-1408, 1489-1497.) Petitioners also alternatively asked the lower court that if those issues were to be presented to the jury, it should pre-instruct the jury that Protective Life must "strictly comply" with the mandatory requirements of sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 before it could terminate McHugh's policy and effectuate a forfeiture of policy benefits. (3 AA 1444-1462.) Finally, Petitioners revived those same arguments in a Motion for Directed Verdict, again asserting that the application of sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 was an issue of law for the trial court to decide, and that no evidence demonstrated that Protective Life strictly complied with those sections when it applied the wrong grace period and prematurely lapsed and terminated McHugh's policy. (3 AA 1469-1479.)

Ultimately, the jury found on Petitioners' breach of contract claim that: (1) Protective Life and McHugh entered into a contract for insurance; (2) McHugh failed to do what that policy required him to do

but was excused from having to do "all, or substantially all, of the significant things the contract required him to do"; (3) all conditions that were required for Protective Life's performance occurred and were not excused; and (4) Protective Life did something that the contract prohibited it from doing. (4 AA 2173-2174.) However, the jury inconsistently then found that Petitioners were not harmed by Protective Life's "failure." (*Ibid.*)

After entry of Judgment in Protective Life's favor, Petitioners Motion renewed their arguments in for Judgment same a Notwithstanding the Verdict ("JNOV") and in a Motion for New Trial. (3 AA 1601-1610, 1631-1886.) Protective Life then opposed those motions (4 AA 1910-2097) and the Petitioners replied. (4 AA 2101-Ultimately, the lower court denied those motions without 2159.) elaboration or explanation in its final order. (4 AA 2164.) McHugh's timely appeal from the Judgment and denial from both the denial of their JNOV motion then followed. (4 AA 2179.)

G. The Court of Appeal's Opinion.

On appeal, Petitioners maintained that the application of sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 presented an issue of law which should have never been placed before a jury, but instead entitled them to judgment in their favor. They further asserted that if that issue required a jury's determination, the trial court erred by refusing their proffered instruction to the jury that it must "strictly construe" provisions of the Insurance Code against forfeiture. Petitioners further contended that the jury should have never been instructed on McHugh's duty to "mitigate" his damages by seeking "reinstatement" of his already in force policy and thereby permitting Protective Life to do what its policy prohibited it from doing.

Notwithstanding the trial court's summary judgment ruling, finding that sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 applied to McHugh's policy, Protective Life did not subsequently challenge that ruling via cross-appeal. Instead, it merely requested that as an alternative basis for affirming the lower court's Judgment, the Court of Appeal (pursuant to Code Civ. Proc. § 906) should find that ruling was erroneous and that those statutes only applied to policies issued after their enactment.

Protective Life further contended that any other application of sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 would be impermissibly "retroactive." Finally, Protective Life invited the Court of Appeal to rely upon "SERRF Notices" issued by the DOI regarding acceptable "policy forms" in order to demonstrate that at least some unidentified DOI staff believed that of sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 applied only to policies issued after January 1, 2013.

Rather than address Petitioners' multiple appellate challenges, the Court of Appeal instead accepted Protective Life's invitation and disposed of the entire appeal based upon its construction of sections 10113.71 and 10113.72, finding they only controlled policies issued after January 1, 2013, and therefore did not apply to McHugh's policy. (Opn. at 4, fn. 4.) It did so purporting to defer to the DOI's "agency expertise" in the interpretation of those statutes, citing to those SERRF Notices as evidence that the DOI had concluded that sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 only apply to policies issued after January 1, 2013. (See, e.g., Opn. at 5-8.) Somewhat ironically, the Court of Appeal cited to the previously mentioned *Bentley* federal district court decision to support its view of the significance of those SERFF Notices (see Opn. at 5-6),

even though *Bentley* previously rejected the same argument raised by the insurer in that case and found instead that those SERRF Notices did *not* represent an official position taken by the DOI concerning the interpretation and application of those same statutes. (*Bentley v. United of Omaha Life Ins. Co.* (C.D. Cal. 2019) 371 F.Supp.3d 723, 727 n.1, 728.)

More importantly, the Court of Appeal's use of those SERFF Notices and references to private opinions, both as evidence of official positions taken by the DOI, completely disregarded Insurance Code That code section makes clear that even public section 12921.9. letters or legal opinions signed by the Insurance Commissioner or the Chief Counsel of the Department of Insurance issued "in response to an inquiry from an insured or other person or entity" that discuss either generally or in connection with a specific fact situation the application of the Insurance Code "shall not be construed as establishing an agency guideline, criterion, bulletin, manual, instruction, order, standard of general application, rule, or regulation." Instead, Government Code § 11340.5 (specifically cross-referenced by Ins. Code § 12921.9) mandates that any "guideline, criterion, bulletin, manual, instruction, order,

standard of general application, or other rule" cannot be issued, utilized, enforced, or attempted to be enforced by any state agency (including the DOI) unless it is first has been adopted as a regulation and filed with the Secretary of State. (Govt. Code § 11340.5, subd. (b).) Alternatively, section 113405 requires that such an agency guideline or criterion be: (1) sent to the Secretary of State; (2) made known to the agency, the Governor, and the Legislature; (3) published in the California Regulatory Notice Register within 15 days of the date of issuance; and (4) made available to the public and the courts. (Govt. Code § 11340.5, subd. (c).)

This is precisely why this Court recently held in *Heckart v. A-J Self Storage*, *Inc.* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 749, 769 fn. 9, that "instructions" issued by DOI staff only do not reflect "careful consideration by senior agency officials' but rather reflect an interpretation prepared 'in an advice letter by a single staff member . . ." (*Id.*, citing *Yamaha Corp. of America v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 1, 13 [similarly confirming that an interpretation of a statute contained in a regulation adopted after public notice and

comment is more deserving of deference than one contained in an advice letter prepared by staff members].)

The Court of Appeal, however, made no attempt to demonstrate that those SERRF Notices (or any other informal hearsay statements made by DOI staff) met the rigors of a "regulation adopted after public notice" as required by Insurance Code section 12921.9, Government Code section 11340.5, nor did it even address this Court's similar directions in *Heckart*. Citing those SERFF Notices, the Court of Appeal instead insisted that its construction of sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 was "consistent" with the DOI's "administrative construction" of those statutes (Opn. at 14), even though the DOI has never taken an official position on the interpretation or application of those statutes, either way.

Finally, the Court of Appeal was forced to concede that its construction of those statutes was "at odds" with their author's intent. (Opn. at 14-15.) Indeed, the Court of Appeal acknowledged that the relevant legislative history confirmed that author intended those statutes to apply to all in force life insurance policies, whenever issued. (*Ibid.* [quoting that history which made clear that

["[a]ccording to the author, the bill provides consumer safeguards from which people who have purchased life insurance coverage, especially seniors, would benefit"].) But the Court of Appeal then attempted to draw a pedantic distinction between what the author of those statutes intended, and what the Legislature writ large must have intended instead by the language it used in those statutes, a perfectly circular argument which only acted to confirm the Court's earlier "plain meaning" construction of those statutes. (*Ibid.*)

Based upon foregoing, the Court of Appeal concluded that sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 apply only to policies issued after January 1, 2013, and affirmed the lower court's Judgment on that alternative basis. (Opn. at 15-16.)

IV.

DISCUSSION

A. This Court Should Grant Review to Resolve a Critical Conflict Created by the Court of Appeal's Opinion.

This Court's intervention is required now to address and resolve a critical conflict created by the Court of Appeal's Opinion. As previewed at the outset of this Petition, that Opinion directly conflicts with a prior

determination made by the federal district court in *Bentley*, which held that sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 apply to all life insurance policies in force at the date of their enactment. (*Bentley, supra*, 371 F.Supp.3d at 734.) *Bentley* did so reasoning that such a construction was consistent with the Legislature's remedial purpose in enacting those statutes in the first place: to provide existing senior and disabled policyholders with enhanced protections against inadvertent lapses and the loss of important coverages and years of premium investments in those policies. (*Ibid.*)

Notably, even though the *Bentley* court had reached those conclusions *before* the Court of Appeal issued its Opinion in this case, the Court of Appeal made no attempt to distinguish *Bentley* or to otherwise challenge its reasoning, although the Court of Appeal was clearly aware of *Bentley*. (See Opn. at 5-6, citing to *Bentley*.) On the other hand, when confronted with the Court of Appeal's Opinion before final judgment was entered, Judge Gee in *Bentley* refused to follow or be influenced by the reasoning of the Court of Appeal's Opinion and further concluded that its reasoning would not be followed by this Court. Thus, with *Bentley* and the Court of Appeal's Opinion, there now

exists at least two decisions (both construing the same California law) which irreconcilably interpret sections 10113.71 and 10113.72, presenting the very type of conflict this Court should now review and resolve. (Rule of Court 8.500, subd. (b)(1).) That *Bentley* will now likely be appealed by the defendant-insurer to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeal only deepens that conflict and accelerates the need for this Court's substantive review.

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