Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically FILED on 12/6/2019 by F. Castuera, Deputy Clerk

# Case No. S259215

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

BLAKELY MCHUGH AND TRYSTA M. HENSELMEIER *Plaintiffs, Appellants, and Petitioners,* 

vs.

PROTECTIVE LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

Defendant and Respondent.

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, FOURTH DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE, CASE NO. D072863

(ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO THE HONORABLE JUDITH M. HAYES, JUDGE CASE NO. 37-2014-00019212-CU-IC-CTL)

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Plaintiffs' petition need not detain this Court for long. A federal trial court could not create a split of authority warranting this Court's review, and Plaintiffs have not accurately represented what that federal trial court decided in any event. This appeal is the wrong vehicle to review this question because a jury found that Protective was not liable even if this statute applied retroactively. And the Court of Appeal's non-retroactive reading of the statute, confirming that Protective did nothing wrong, was compelled by the statute's text and California precedents. The Courts of Appeal can further refine the law as more cases arise in the future, so review of this Opinion is not needed.

#### 1. Courts are not split on the question presented

Plaintiffs have no basis for their argument that "[t]his Court's intervention is required now to address and resolve a critical conflict created by the Court of Appeal's Opinion." (Pet. 27.) Plaintiffs cite no other state-court holding on the issue, and the Court of Appeal's Opinion is the first and only appellate decision on the matter. The pending federal trial-court litigation to which Plaintiffs point does not create a split. On questions of California law, ""[w]here there is no convincing evidence that the state supreme court would decide differently, a federal court is obligated to follow the decisions of the state's intermediate appellate courts.' [Citation.]" (*Vestar Dev. II, LLC v. Gen. Dynamics Corp.* (9th Cir. 2001) 249 F.3d 958, 960.)

To that end, Plaintiffs make a serious mistake when they assert that the Court of Appeal's Opinion is "irreconcilabl[e]" with an order entered by U.S. District Judge Dolly M. Gee that, Plaintiffs contend, "refused to follow or be influenced by the reasoning of the Court of Appeal's Opinion and further concluded that its reasoning would not be followed by this Court." (Pet. 28-29.) That is not what Judge Gee did. Judge Gee issued the summary-judgment order cited by Plaintiffs on February 21, 2019, prior to the Court of Appeal's October 9, 2019 Opinion. (See Pet. 28, citing Bentley v. United of Omaha Life Ins. (C.D. Cal. 2019) 371 F.Supp.3d 723.) Plaintiffs had cited Judge Gee's February 21, 2019 summary-judgment order in their briefs in the Court of Appeal. The Court of Appeal was well aware of the *Bentley* litigation, and cited an earlier order from Judge Gee in its Opinion. (Opn. 5-6, citing Bentley v. United of Omaha Life Ins. (C.D. Cal. Sept. 14, 2016, No. 2:15-cv-07870) 2016 WL 7443190.) So Judge Gee's February 21, 2019 summary-judgment order could not possibly have "refused to follow," as Plaintiffs contend, the Court of Appeal's subsequent October 9, 2019 Opinion or "concluded that its reasoning would not be followed by this Court." (Pet. 28.)

To the contrary, the only order Judge Gee entered in the *Bentley* litigation discussing the Court of Appeal's October 9, 2019 Opinion—an order on October 21, 2019, denying the defendant's request to stay the case—did not say that the Court of Appeal's interpretation of the statute was wrong or that this Court would not agree with it. (In Chambers – Order Denying Deft's *Ex Parte* Appl. to Stay Case, *Bentley v. United of Omaha Life Ins.* (C.D. Cal. Oct. 21, 2019, No. CV 15-7870-DMG (AJWx)) Doc.196, attached as Exhibit A to Protective's pending Motion for Judicial Notice.) She instead concluded that the facts of her case were distinguishable from the facts before the Court of Appeal. That was so, she wrote, because the policies in her case had clauses saying they "renewed" each year. (*Id.* at 2.) She reasoned that those clauses made the statute applicable to those policies because under California law, "[e]ach renewal [of an insurance policy] incorporates any changes in the law that occurred prior to the renewal." (*Ibid.*, quoting *Stephan v. Unum Life Ins.* (9th Cir. 2012) 697 F.3d 917, 927-928.) She noted that the Protective policy "never renewed," such that the Court of Appeal had no occasion to address this "renewal principle." (*Ibid.*)

Plaintiffs' counsel previously acknowledged this reality. In another pending federal case, they filed a brief attaching Judge Gee's October 21, 2019 order denying the stay and represented that this post-Opinion order "distinguished *McHugh*" on the basis that "the *McHugh* court did *not* consider the well-settled renewal principle, as the policy in *McHugh* did not renew prior to its cancellation for non-payment." (Plaintiff's Notice Suppl. Auth. at 2, *Pitt v. MetLife, Inc.* (N.D. Cal. Nov. 1, 2019, No. 4:18-cv-06609-YGR) Doc. 99, attached as Exhibit B to Protective's pending Motion for Judicial Notice.) Their representations in that brief are inconsistent with their representations here. Protective has contemporaneously filed a motion asking this Court to take judicial notice of that brief and Judge Gee's October 21, 2019 order denying the stay.

#### 2. This case is the wrong vehicle for this question's review

Review is especially unwarranted because Protective won this case at trial despite the trial court's erroneous ruling that the statute applied. The trial court allowed Plaintiffs to try their case on the premise—which Protective disputed—that the statute retroactively altered Protective's policy, such that it incorporated the statute's new requirements. (RA 4-7.) The jury found that even on that premise, Protective still was not liable on these facts. (4 AA 2099-2100.) This alternative and independent basis for the judgment stands as another reason to deny Plaintiffs' request for review.

The verdict is unassailable. Trial testimony established that Protective effectively provided its insureds an "additional grace period" of 31 days, beyond the 31-day period their policies already provided, to cure any failure to pay their premiums. (*See* 8 RT 1540-1554, 1586-1587.) As a result, Protective gave the insured in this case more notice and a longer grace period than the statute requires. (*See* 8 RT 1540-1554, 1586-1587.) Other testimony showed that the insured told Protective he knew he had "neglected to pay" his premium, and that although Protective sent him an application to reinstate his coverage, he never returned it. (2 AA 867:13-14, 867-68; 8 RT 1534:3-6, 1538:17-21.) The

jury thus rightly concluded that even if the statute applied, Protective was not liable—it had not failed to do anything the statute required, and the insured otherwise had not been harmed. (4 AA 2099-2100.) The evidence supporting that verdict belies Plaintiffs' suggestion that the insured "inadvertently" lost coverage due to lack of notice. (Pet. 31.) And this alternative basis for the judgment makes this case an exceedingly poor vehicle for this Court to review the statutory issue.

# 3. Further percolation in the lower courts will confirm the Court of Appeal's interpretation

Denying review will have the added benefit of allowing lower courts to develop consensus around the Court of Appeal's reading of this statute, which was correct and sound. The Court of Appeal's decision was compelled by—and future decisions in the lower courts can expound upon—two central considerations: (1) the language the Legislature used in this statute and (2) the California precedents establishing what this language means. (Opn. 5-15.) In particular, by imposing the new requirements on policies "issued or delivered" in California, the Legislature chose familiar drafting language that has long been used to signify, in insurance statutes, prospective-only effect. (Ins. Code, § 10113.71, subd. (a); Ins. Code, § 10113.72, subd. (a).)

As the Court of Appeal noted, "well[-]settled" precedent in this State presumes that "insurance policies are governed by the statutory and decisional law in force at the time the policy is issued" and that any new statute imposing requirements on insurance policies will be "given the least retroactive effect that its language reasonably permits." (Opn. 13, quoting *Interinsurance Exch. of Auto. Club of S. Cal. v. Ohio Cas. Ins. Co.* (1962) 58 Cal.2d 142, 149.) Equally settled precedent holds, as the Court of Appeal also noted, that ""[t]he terms "issued" and "delivered,"" when used in a statute requiring certain provisions to be appear in policies "issued" and "delivered" in California, "must refer to the original issuance and delivery of the policy; they are fixed as to time and do not stretch into infinity." (Opn. 11, quoting *Ball v. Cal. State Auto. Assn. Inter-Ins. Bureau* (1962) 201 Cal.App.2d 85, 87 (*Ball*).)

As the Court of Appeal observed, these precedents can only mean that this statute establishes terms insurers must incorporate into policies they "issue" or "deliver" *after* the statute's effective date, and does not retroactively alter already-issued insurance contracts. The statute uses the precise language these precedents identify as non-retroactive, specifying that its new provisions need to appear in policies when they are "issued or delivered." (Ins. Code, § 10113.71, subd. (a); Ins. Code, § 10113.72, subd. (a).) That language, as Justice Tobriner reasoned in a precedent that has stood for more than half a century, establish what insurers must do as of "the original issuance and delivery of the policy," rather than "stretch[ing] into infinity." (*Ball, supra*, 201 Cal.App.2d at p. 87.)

Plaintiffs have distorted what the Court of Appeal said on these fronts. The Court of Appeal did not simply "defer," without bringing its own judgment to bear, to the prospective-only interpretations that various Department of Insurance officials have offered. (Pet. 23.) The Court of Appeal instead noted, in faithfully applying this Court's recent agency-deference precedents, that these interpretations were, in the Court of Appeal's words, "correct." (Opn. 7, 13, 14, citing Christensen v. Lightbourne (2019) 7 Cal.5th 761, 771 [noting that "[d]eference to administrative interpretations always is 'situational' and depends on 'a complex of factors"].) The Court of Appeal likewise did not "concede" that its interpretation was "at odds' with" the intent of the bill's "author[]." (Pet. 26.) The Court of Appeal instead "acknowledge[d]" that its Opinion was "somewhat at odds" with an "amicus brief" that had focused on legislative history but failed to "analyze any of the statutory language or address the case law governing when statutes will be deemed to apply retroactively." (Opn. 14-15.) As the Petition for Review shows, that legislative history is indeterminate: it did not say, one way or the other, whether the bill was retroactive. (Pet. 26-27, quoting legislative history.) The lower courts can iron out the details about these interpretive issues, and they do not warrant this Court's intervention.

#### CONCLUSION

This Court should deny Plaintiffs' petition.